RECEIVED

Jun 16 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Berkeley County
Court of Common Pleas

Case No. 2017-CP-08-02153
Appellate Case No. 2020-000757

DORETTA MCHUGH, as Personal Representative for the Estate of Daniel Coy,

Appellant,

v.

JOHN DOE,

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BOLES LAW FIRM, LLC

s:/Daniel C. Boles

Daniel C. Boles

S.C. Bar #79135

3870 Leeds Ave. Ste. 104

North Charleston, SC 29405

843.576.5775 t

800.878.5443 f

dan@boleslawfirmllc.com

Attorney for the Appellant

Doretta McHugh

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. The Trial Court erred in allowing the Defendant to repeatedly refer to other instances of Plaintiff's conduct as proof that the Plaintiff was negligent at the time of the incident giving rise to this matter.

II. The Trial Court erred in failing to grant Plaintiff's Motion for a Directed Verdict, where only reasonable inference was that Defendant caused the wreck.

III. The Trial Court erred in failing to grant Plaintiff's Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict where only reasonable inference was that Defendant caused the wreck.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action brought by Daniel C. Coy alleging that Respondent John Doe was negligent in that John Doe drove his motor vehicle into the rear of Appellant's motorcycle, causing injuries to Appellant. This action was originally filed on September 15, 2017 and Defendant filed an answer on November 8, 2017. However, the case proceeded to trial on an amended complaint. [R. pp. 37-40; Amd. Complaint, filed October 23, 2019].

Plaintiff asserted a negligence cause of action. [R. pp. 38-40; Amd. Complaint, filed October 23, 2019]. By its answer, Defendant denied the allegations of the Amended Complaint and pled Comparative Negligence, among other affirmative defenses. [R. pp. 48-54; Answer to Amd. Complaint, filed October 25, 2019].

The matter came to trial on November 12-13, 2019 before the Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, and a jury in the Berkeley County Court of Common Pleas.

The jury returned a verdict in favor of Defendant. [R. p. 23]

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This matter arises from a motor vehicle-motorcycle collision on June 14, 2017 that took place on U.S. 17 Alt. near Summerville, South Carolina. Plaintiff was riding his motorcycle to work, and as he slowed to turn into the parking lot of the convenience store he worked at, Defendant John Doe struck Mr. Coy from behind, causing him to wreck. Mr. Coy was injured as a result. John Doe then drove away and did not return. This matter proceeded to jury trial in Berkeley County on November 12 and 13, 2019 before the Honorable Deadra Jefferson. Plaintiff, prior to the trial, was killed in an unrelated collision with a drunk driver. Plaintiff was represented by his Personal Representative at trial, and excerpts from Plaintiff's deposition were published to the jury. At the close of the Defendant's case, which presented no evidence,

Plaintiff's motion for Directed Verdict was denied. The jury returned a verdict in favor of the Defendant. Plaintiff timely moved for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, which was also denied.

Standard of Review

The trial court's ruling to admit or exclude evidence will only be reversed if it constitutes an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law. *R & G Constr., Inc. v. Lowcountry Reg'l Transp. Auth.*, 343 S.C. 424, 439, 540 S.E.2d 113, 121 (Ct.App.2000). An abuse of discretion occurs when the ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion without evidentiary support. *Patel v. Patel*, 359 S.C. 515, 529, 599 S.E.2d 114, 121 (2004). An abuse of discretion can occur where the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law. *Henderson v. Puckett*, 316 S.C. 171, 447 S.E.2d 871 (Ct.App.1994) (citing 16 S.C. Juris. *Appeal and Error* § 124 at 31–32 (1992)).

Law

Generally, the Plaintiff in a civil matter or defendant in a criminal matter must first offer evidence in favor or character or habit in order for the adverse party to offer evidence to the contrary. “We hold the trial court did not abuse its discretion in ruling Williams did not open the door to evidence of his confrontational character or his propensity to brandish a firearm when in a confrontation. That ruling removed Rule 404(a)(1) from the evidentiary equation; therefore, the trial court committed an error of law in relying upon Rule 404(a)(1) to allow the State to introduce evidence of Williams’ confrontational character. *State v. Williams*, 430 S.C. 136, 150, 844 S.E.2d 57, 65 (2020), *reh’g denied* (July 8, 2020).

The concept behind Rule 403 is clear: if the probative value of the evidence sought to be admitted “is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues,

or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence,” the trial court, upon proper objection, may exclude the evidence. *See* Rule 403, SCRE. The Rule 403 concern most often invoked is “the danger of unfair prejudice.” In the context of Rule 403, “[e]vidence is unfairly prejudicial if it has an undue tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis, such as an emotional one.” *State v. Wilson*, 345 S.C. 1, 7, 545 S.E.2d 827, 830 (2001).

[Courts] have guarded against “thinly-veiled attempt[s] to show propensity” initiated under the guise of an attempt at impeachment. *See Young*, 378 S.C. at 106, 661 S.E.2d at 390; *State v. Heyward*, 426 S.C. 630, 637, 828 S.E.2d 592, 595 (2019).

Argument

Admission of Plaintiff’s prior fall from a motorcycle over objection, and repeatedly referring to it, constitutes a reversible error of law. What possible probative value can evidence of a prior fall offer the jury in this case? None. Yet the danger of unfair prejudice is substantial. Defendant’s arguments related to the prior fall are an overt, not thinly veiled, attempt to show Plaintiff’s propensity for falling by his own mistake. The evidence at issue consists of an excerpt from page 42 of Plaintiff’s discovery deposition transcript, which was published to the jury by Plaintiff’s Personal Representative, his mother. Prior to the reading of the transcript excerpts, a conference between the Court and counsel took place wherein Plaintiff offered certain testimony and Defendant offered certain testimony. Plaintiff objected to the introduction of testimony related to a prior fall Plaintiff experienced while taking a motorcycle safety course. [R. p. 280. line 2-3; Tr. 191: 2-3, 17-22].

Plaintiff did not place his character or habit for safety practices at issue, therefore Defendant’s introduction of testimony related to a prior fall, six weeks prior to the collision at

issue during a safety course, was improper. The evidence that Plaintiff had a prior fall on his motorcycle was not offered to impeach his credibility, it was offered to show he was at-fault in the case at trial. Responding to Plaintiff's timely objection, the Trial Court attempted to help the Defendant out by indicating that the evidence would be offered to show a pre-existing condition, such as headaches. [R. p. 275, line 24-25, R. p. 276, line 1-3 ;Tr.186: 24-25, 187: 1-3]. "I'm just anticipating [the Defendant's] argument, that it's a pre-existing condition for which is also a contributing cause to his headaches." [R. p. 273, line 3-6; Tr.184: 3-6]. "And I'm assuming, Mr. [Defendant], that is your argument; that, that was a pre-existing defect for which he's not entitled to be compensated. [Defendant]: Yes, Your Honor." [R. p. 273, line 23-25, R. p. 274, line 1; Tr.184: 23-25, 185: 1].

If Defendant wished to argue that Plaintiff suffered from a pre-existing condition, this would have been easy to accomplish without admitting evidence of a prior fall. Plaintiff offered a proper alternative that would allow Defendant to introduce evidence of prior headaches without introducing evidence of a prior fall. "We could, for instance, put in there, 'I still get headaches from time to time because I had a minor fall.'" [R. p. 276, line 12-14;Tr. 187: 12-14].

However, the Defendant never adopted this argument in front of the jury and argued throughout the trial that the Plaintiff's prior fall at the safety training indicated Plaintiff caused the injury at issue in trial. "[J]ust six weeks before this accident... he did something wrong and flipped over the handlebars. Just like this accident." [R. p. 170, line 5-6, 20-24; Tr. 81:5-6, 20-24]. In addition to being inadmissible, this statement by Defendant is inaccurate, as the deposition transcript shows. Defendant's inadmissible theory is best summed up in his closing argument. "Is it possible that as Mr. Coy is making a maneuver on his Ducati Café Racer to turn into that parking lot, going around 19 miles an hour, attempting to change gears loses control of

that bike, flips, and at that same time, a car goes by[?]" [R. p. 369, line 8-13; Tr. 280:8-13]. "[Y]ou heard about the situation where six weeks before he is turning and braking and making a maneuver on the bike and flies off and hits his head." [R. p. 372, line 6-9; Tr.283: 6-9]. This last statement, at least, was objected to and the objection was sustained. However, it is further proof of the improper narrative that Defendant promoted throughout the trial.

Conclusion

This inadmissible evidence was harmful and not cumulative because it was the main defense presented at trial. The defense offered no alternate explanation for Plaintiff's injuries, nor did the defense offer other evidence that would tend to prove the Plaintiff caused the collision in this matter. The main defense presented, that Plaintiff was the cause of the crash at issue in this matter, was supported solely by Plaintiff's deposition testimony that he had fallen from his motorcycle six weeks prior. These unrelated matters were repeatedly referred to by Defendant during opening, during examinations, and during closing argument in support of the defense's argument that the Plaintiff caused himself to fall during the incident giving rise to this matter. Allowing this evidence to be published to the jury over Plaintiff's timely objection was reversible error; denying Plaintiff's motions for Directed Verdict and JNOV were further reversible error where the defense relied almost exclusively on the prior fall in support of its arguments.

Plaintiff respectfully requests that this Court reverse the decision below and enter judgment in favor of the Plaintiff, or, alternatively, order a new trial on the merits.

BOLES LAW FIRM, LLC

s:/Daniel C. Boles

Daniel C. Boles

S.C. Bar #79135

3870 Leeds Ave. Ste. 104

North Charleston, SC 29405

843.576.5775 *t*

800.878.5443 *f*

dan@boleslawfirmllc.com

Attorney for the Appellant

Doretta McHugh

RECEIVED
Jun 16 2021
SC Court of Appeals