RECEIVED

Jul 12 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

Civil Action No. 2017-CP-08-02153
Appellate Case No.: 2020-000757

Doretta McHugh, as Personal Representative
for the Estate of Daniel Coy,

Appellant,

v.

John Doe

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Michelle Endemann
497 St. Andrews Blvd
Charleston SC 29407

Michael T. Coulter (SC Bar #15177)
1164A Woodruff Road (29607)
PO Box 6728
Greenville, SC 29606
T: 864.232.4400

Attorney for Respondent John Doe

I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1) DID THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY ALLOW INTO EVIDENCE TESTIMONY REGARDING APPELLANT'S CONDUCT?
- 2) DID THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY DENY APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT?
- 3) DID THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY DENY APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE VERDICT?

II. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This matter arises out of a motor vehicle-motorcycle accident that occurred on June 14, 2017 in which a motorcycle being operated by Appellant, Daniel Coy, allegedly collided with an unknown driver's, Respondent John Doe's, automobile. On September 15, 2017, Mr. Coy filed a lawsuit and alleged that the unknown driver, John Doe, negligently rear-ended him while he was on his motorcycle, attempting to make a right turn into his place of employment, Circle K, on Highway 17A near or around Summerville, South Carolina. [R.pp. 30-36]. Counsel for John Doe timely filed an answer to the complaint and denied liability, as well as, pled comparative negligence, amongst several other affirmative defenses. [R.pp. 41-47]. Mr. Coy filed an amended complaint on October 25, 2019 and John Doe timely filed an answer and re-asserted comparative negligence as an affirmative defense. [R.pp. 37-40; R.pp. 52-53, ¶29].

This matter proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable Deadra Jefferson on November 12th and 13th, 2019, in Berkeley County. However, prior to trial, Mr. Coy was killed in an unrelated motor-vehicle accident. As such, during trial, Mr. Coy was represented by his Personal Representative, Doretta McHugh. At the close of John Doe's case, counsel for Mr. Coy moved for a Directed Verdict, which was subsequently denied. [R.p. 293, Line 5]. After deliberating, the jury returned a verdict in favor of the Defendant. [R.pp. 23-29]. After publication of the verdict, the Court required post-trial motions pursuant to Rule 50(e), SCRPC. Counsel for Mr. Coy moved for judgment notwithstanding the verdict ("JNOV"). The Court denied the motion for JNOV and made contemporaneous findings of fact and conclusions of law for the record. [R.p. 420, Line 15-p. 421, Line 20]. The Court required any further motions or matters for the Court's consideration to be heard at that time. Counsel for Mr. Coy did not move for a new trial, and did not request ten (10) days within which to make a motion for new trial. At that time, the Court deemed all post-trial

motions not made, waived. The Court's Order denying the JNOV Motion was filed by the Clerk of Court on November 19, 2019. [R.pp. 4-6]. That same day, counsel for Mr. Coy filed a Motion for New Trial or to Alter or Amend the Judgment. [R.p. 424]. Counsel for John Doe filed a response in opposition of Mr. Coy's Motion for New Trial or to Alter or Amend the Judgment on November 26, 2019. [R.p. 429-431]. In its sound discretion, the Circuit Court denied Mr. Coy's Motion for a New Trial and found that Mr. Coy had presented no argument that would justify disregarding the verdict of the jury. [R.p. 9, pg. 3]. Counsel for Mr. Coy filed his Motion to Reconsider on December 2, 2019, but failed to serve its Motion on the Court within the ten (10) days required by Rule 59(g), SCRPC, and likewise, also failed to serve a copy of its motion on opposing counsel. Ultimately, the Circuit Court was provided with a copy of Mr. Coy's Motion for Reconsideration on March 9, 2020, by the Clerk of Court. [R.pp. 13-22]. On April 29, 2020, by way of Order, the Circuit Court denied Mr. Coy's Motion to Reconsider. *Id.* Counsel for Mr. Coy timely filed his Notice of Appeal on May 6, 2020.

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The standard of review for an appeal of an action at law tried by a jury is restricted to corrections of errors of law. A factual finding of the jury will not be disturbed unless there is no evidence which reasonably supports the findings of the jury.” Felder v. K-Mart Corp., 297 S.C. 446, 448, 377 S.E.2d 332, 333 (1989).

The admission of evidence is a matter left to the discretion of the trial judge. Carlyle v. Tuomey Hosp., 305 S.C. 187, 407 S.E.2d 630 (1991). Therefore, on appeal, an appellate court will not disturb a trial court's evidentiary rulings absent a clear abuse of discretion. R&G Constr., Inc. v. Lowcountry Reg'l Transp. Auth., 343 S.C. 424, 439, 540 S.E.2d 113, 121 (Ct. App. 2000); American Federal Bank v. No. 1 Main Joint Venture, 321 S.C. 169, 467 S.E.2d 439 (1996); “For

this Court to reverse a case based on the admission of evidence, both error and prejudice must be shown.” Seabrook Island Prop. Owners’ Ass’n., 365 S.C. 234 at 242, 616 S.E.2d 431 at 435 (Ct. App. 2005).

When reviewing the trial judge’s decision on directed verdict motions or judgment notwithstanding the verdict, an appellate court must apply the same standard as applies to the lower court by viewing the evidence and all inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Weir v. Citicorp Nat’l Servs., Inc., 312 S.C. 511, 435, S.E.2d 864 (1993); Welch v. Epstein, 342 S.C. 279, 299, 536 S.E.2d 408, 418 (Ct. App. 2000). The appellate court may only reverse the denial of a motion for directed verdict or JNOV if no evidence supports the trial court’s ruling. Swinton Creek Nursery v. Edisto Farm Credit, 334 S.C. 469, 514 S.E.2d 126 (1999). When considering directed verdict and JNOV motions, neither the trial court nor the appellate court has authority to decide credibility issues or to resolve conflicts in the testimony or evidence. Welch v. Epstein, 342 S.C. 279, 300, 536 S.E.2d 408, 419 (Ct. App. 2000); Erickson v. Jones Street Publishers, LLC, 368 S.C. 444, 463, 629 S.E.2d 653, 663 (2006). A motion for JNOV may be granted only if no reasonable jury could have reached the challenged verdict. Crossley v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 307 S.C. 354, 415 S.E.2d 393 (1992). The jury’s verdict will not be overturned if any evidence exists that sustains the factual findings implicit in its decision. Smalls v. South Carolina Dep’t of Educ., 339 S.C. 208, 528 S.E.2d 682 (Ct. App. 2000); Hunter v. Staples, 335 S.C. 93, 515 S.E.2d 261 (Ct. App. 1999).

A respondent may argue any additional reasons why an appellate court should affirm the appealed ruling, “regardless of whether those reasons have been presented to or ruled on by the lower court.” I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 419, 526 S.E.2d 716, 723 (2000). A reviewing court may, in its discretion, review the additional reasons presented by the respondent

and “if convinced it is proper and fair to do so, rely on them or any other reason appearing in the record to affirm the lower court's judgment.” Id. at 420, 526 S.E.2d at 723. See also Rule 220(c) SCACR.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Circuit Court Did Not Abuse its Discretion and Correctly Allowed into Evidence Testimony Related to Mr. Coy’s Pre-Existing Conditions.

The admissibility of evidence lies within the sound discretion of the trial court whose decision will not be overturned on appeal absent a clear abuse of that discretion. Gamble v. Int'l Paper Realty Corp., 323 S.C. 367, 474 S.E.2d 438 (1996); Washington v. Whitaker, 317 S.C. 108, 451 S.E.2d 894 (1994); Carlyle v. Tuomey Hosp., 305 S.C. 187, 407 S.E.2d 630 (1991). Under South Carolina law, only relevant evidence that tends to prove or disprove the existence of a material fact is admissible. Jamison v. Ford Motor Co., 644 S.E.2d 755, 766 (S.C. Ct. App. 2007) (citing SCRE 401).

As previously mentioned above, Mr. Coy had passed away prior to the trial of this case. Thus, his deposition transcript was presented to the jury and read by his mother, Ms. McHugh. In his brief, Appellant mischaracterizes the purpose of the testimony regarding Mr. Coy’s prior fall from his motorcycle, which occurred approximately six weeks before the subject accident. Appellant argues that the testimony was presented as an attempt to show Mr. Coy’s propensity for falling by his own mistake, and therefore, was inadmissible. [Appellant’s Brief, p. 7]. Appellant further argues that “Plaintiff did not place his character or habit for safety practices at issue...”. [Appellant’s Brief, p. 7]. However, the evidence and testimony regarding Mr. Coy’s previous fall was presented to show that Mr. Coy had suffered headaches as a result of that previous fall and therefore, should be considered as it related to the injuries Mr. Coy claimed to have also sustained

as a result of subject accident and John Doe's negligence. Importantly, during his deposition, Mr. Coy's testimony related to his previous fall was not elicited in the context of previous accidents and/or his propensity to fall off of his motorcycle, but instead, followed the question "what injuries did you sustain as a result of this accident?" [R.p. 65, Lines 12-13]. At that time, Mr. Coy interjected and offered this particular testimony to explain the underlying cause of his headaches, which is a complaint he also associated with the subject accident. [R.p. 66, Lines 2-14]. Therefore, it is counsel for Mr. Coy who is misplacing this line of testimony and its purpose, not counsel for John Doe. In order for the jury to determine what damages Mr. Coy suffered as a result of the subject accident versus a pre-existing condition resulting from a previous accident, they were entitled to a clear and full picture of his injuries. Thus, the testimony offered by Mr. Coy was relevant and wholly within the context of his injuries.

An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law." State v. Commander, 396 S.C. 254, 262-63, 721 S.E.2d 413, 417 (2011) (quoting State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006)). The Circuit Court's decision in finding that the testimony offered by Mr. Coy, which related to his previous accident and subsequent headaches, was relevant, well-reasoned, and absent of any clear abuse of discretion. Therefore, as the law cited above provides, the trial court's decision should be affirmed.

B. The Circuit Court Correctly Denied the Motion for a Directed Verdict Because Clear Questions of Fact Existed And The Evidence Was Susceptible of More Than One Reasonable Inference.

When ruling on a motion for a directed verdict, the trial court is concerned with the existence or non-existence of evidence, not its weight. State v. Condrey 349 S.C. 184, 562 S.E. 2d 320 (S.C. App. 2002). When ruling on a motion for a directed verdict, the trial court must view all

evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, and if the evidence is susceptible of more than one reasonable inference, the trial court should submit the case to the jury. Unlimited Servs., Inc., v. Macklen Enters. Inc., 303 S.C. 384, 386, 401 S.E.2d 153, 154 (1991). Comparing the negligence of two parties is ordinarily a question of fact for the jury. Creech S.C. Wildlife & Marine Res. Dept., 328 S.C. 24, 32, 491 S.E. 2d 571, 575 (1997). The Supreme Court is been “reticent” to endorse directed verdicts in cases involving comparative negligence. Thomasko v. Poole, 349 S.C. 7, 11, 561 S.E.2d 597, 599 (2002). “The appellate court will reverse the circuit court’s ruling on a directed verdict motion only when **no** evidence supports the ruling or the ruling is controlled by an error of law.” Fay v. Grand Strand Reg’l Med. Ctr., 412 S.C. 185, 193, 771 S.E.2d 639, 644 (2015) (citing Law v. S.C. Dep’t of Corr., 368 S.C. 424, 434-35, 629 S.E.2d 642, 648 (2006)).

Appellant has failed to prove or show that the evidence presented before the jury was not susceptible of more than one reasonable inference. Appellant has also failed to show that the ruling denying the motion for directed verdict was controlled by an error of law. In fact, Appellant did not present any basis in his brief except to simply say, “denying Plaintiff’s motions for Directed Verdict and JNOV were reversible error.” [Appellants Brief, p. 9]. He continues to ignore the abundance of evidence and testimony that was presented before the jury that tended to show that more than one reasonable inference could be drawn from the evidence presented. When counsel for Mr. Coy moved for a directed verdict, clear questions of fact existed, which were properly submitted for the jury to determine. As such, the motion for directed verdict was properly denied.

C. The Circuit Court Correctly Denied Appellant's Motion for Judgement Notwithstanding the Verdict Because Ample Evidence and Testimony Existed to Support the Jury's Finding.

When ruling on a Motion for JNOV, a trial court is required to view the evidence and the inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the party opposing the motions. Pye v. Estate of Fox, 369 S.C. 555, 563, 633 S.E.2d 505, 509 (2006). If the evidence as a whole is susceptible of more than one reasonable inference, a jury issue is created and a JNOV motion should be denied. Parrish v. Allison, 376 S.C. 308, 319, 656 S.E.2d 382, 388 (Ct. App. 2007). On JNOV motions, the trial court does not have "the authority to decide credibility issues or to resolve conflicts in the testimony or evidence." Thomas v. Dootson, 377 S.C. 293, 297, 659 S.E.2d 253, 255 (Ct. App. 2008) ("[I]t is the jury that must decide what part of the witness's testimony it wants to believe and what part it wants to disbelieve."). When considering a Motion for JNOV, a trial judge is concerned with the existence of evidence and not its weight. State v. Wakefield, 323 S.C. 189, 197, 473 S.E.2d 831, 835 (Ct. App. 1996). Therefore, a jury's verdict should not be overturned if **any** evidence exists that sustains the factual findings implicit in its decision. Id. (emphasis added). A jury verdict should be upheld when it is possible, so as to carry out the effect of the jury's clear intention. Billups v. Leliuga, 303 S.C. 36, 39, 398 S.E.2d 75, 76 (Ct. App. 1990).

In Appellant's brief, he contends that the jury was presented with very little evidence, and what little evidence was presented, it related only to a prior fall while operating his motorcycle. However, and contrary to Appellant's brief, the jury was presented with an array of evidence including testimony from Mr. Coy's deposition, Doretta McHugh, and two (2) witnesses, who claimed to have witnessed the accident. It is undisputed that the jury had the opportunity to hear

arguments presented by each party and therefore, had every opportunity to weigh the credibility of the facts and evidence that was presented by each party. While presenting his case before the jury, counsel for Mr. Coy argued that this was a “hit and run” case. In effort to support his argument, he called two witnesses to the stand, who testified before the jury, they did in fact witness Mr. Coy get hit by a vehicle and that vehicle fled the scene. However, after hearing arguments, testimony, and viewing the evidence presented by both parties, the jury was simply not convinced, and thus, Mr. Coy was unable to meet his burden. Moreover, contrary to Appellant’s brief, there was compelling testimony, which revealed that John Doe was not involved in the subject accident. For example, the jury was presented with testimony from Mr. Coy whereby he stated under oath that he did not even know that he had been struck in the rear by a vehicle. [R.p. 62, Lines 12-19; Coy Depo. Transcript, p. 26, Lines 12-19]. Further, Mr. Coy testified that he felt as though his motorcycle had “seized up,” causing him to wreck the motorcycle. [R.p. 61, Line 21 – p. 62, Line 4; Coy Depo. Transcript, p. 25, Line 21 – p. 26, Line 4]. Finally, Mr. Coy also testified that prior to the accident he had not heard a vehicle behind him nor had he seen any vehicle lights behind him. [R.p. 62, Line 23 – p. 62, Line 12; Coy Depo. Transcript p. 26, Line 23 – p. 27, Line 12]. Additionally, and to that same effect, Ms. Goblet, who was called to the stand by counsel for Mr. Coy, admitted that she did not actually see a car coming in contact with the rear of Mr. Coy’s motorcycle. [R.p. 221, Lines 17-22]. She further testified that from where she was standing, it would have been “impossible” to see what was going on behind Mr. Coy’s motorcycle at the time of the accident. [R.p. 222, Lines 15-20]. The foregoing facts are just a “tip of the iceberg” of the evidence that existed and was presented before the jury that tended to show that Mr. Coy was not actually hit by a John Doe driver.

As the finders of the fact, the jury is "imbued with broad discretion in determining credibility or believability of witnesses." Small v. Pioneer Machinery, Inc., 329 S.C. 448, 465, 494 S.E.2d 835, 843 (Ct. App. 1997). It is clear that there was more than enough evidence that existed to create factual disputes regarding liability and whether or not John Doe, an unknown driver, was negligent, which was an issue for the jury to resolve. As the law cited above provides, the standard is that all inferences are to be drawn in support of the jury's determination. The jury, based on a reasonable analysis of the facts presented during trial, returned a verdict in favor of the John Doe Defendant. Therefore, given the amount of evidence that existed, the Circuit Court's order denying Plaintiff's Motion for JNOV should be affirmed.